2001

"Not only for... Material Progress... but for the General Good and Uplift": A History of Guernsey and Its Humpback Bridge

Elwood W. Christ

Gettysburg College

Follow this and additional works at: https://cupola.gettysburg.edu/ach

Part of the Social History Commons, and the United States History Commons

Share feedback about the accessibility of this item.


Available at: https://cupola.gettysburg.edu/ach/vol7/iss1/4

This open access article is brought to you by The Cupola: Scholarship at Gettysburg College. It has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of The Cupola. For more information, please contact cupola@gettysburg.edu.
"Not only for... Material Progress... but for the General Good and Uplift": A History of Guernsey and Its Humpback Bridge

Abstract
The Guernsey or "Humpback" Bridge (see figure 2) is dying from neglect. Small saplings and briar bushes now cuddle its abutments that Mother Nature has bombarded with many wind and rain showers and baked with her sweltering summer suns. Several timbers are tattooed, seared by countless embers from wood- and coal-fired locomotives that have traveled underneath it along the Gettysburg Railroad line. Sections of several other timbers have rotted. Indeed, this little, single-lane span cannot withstand the weight of motor vehicles much longer. For this reason, in 1999 the Pennsylvania Public Utilities Commission ruled that the forlorn bridge was a safety hazard, closing it to the public and earmarking it for demolition.

The Guernsey bridge's future looked bleak. No government, business entity, or private citizen wanted to claim the bridge. Located next to the intersection of West Guernsey and Guernsey Roads, situated some two miles northeast of Biglerville, in Butler township, Adams county, the "Humpback Bridge" was neither maintained by the Adams county commissioners nor the Butler township supervisors. The Gettysburg Railroad, which had been sold several times over the past several decades, had no record of it. Thus the PUC had intervened.

The Guernsey bridge, however, had not been completely forgotten. A grass-roots group, Friends of the Guernsey Bridge, was organized to prevent the bridge's destruction. But when the group sought to acquire it in order to preserve it, it encountered a stumbling block: the identity of the bridge's owner. "Who is the present owner of the Humpback Bridge?" [excerpt]

Keywords
Adams County Historical Society, ACHS, Adams County, Pennsylvania History, Guernsey Bridge, Friends of Guernsey Bridge, Gettysburg Railroad

This article is available in Adams County History: https://cupola.gettysburg.edu/ach/vol7/iss1/4
The Guernsey or "Humpback" Bridge (see figure 2) is dying from neglect. Small saplings and briar bushes now cuddle its abutments that Mother Nature has bombarded with many wind and rain showers and baked with her sweltering summer suns. Several timbers are tattooed, seared by countless embers from wood- and coal-fired locomotives that have traveled underneath it along the Gettysburg Railroad line. Sections of several other timbers have rotted. Indeed, this little, single-lane span cannot withstand the weight of motor vehicles much longer. For this reason, in 1999 the Pennsylvania Public Utilities Commission ruled that the forlorn bridge was a safety hazard, closing it to the public and earmarking it for demolition.

The Guernsey bridge’s future looked bleak. No government, business entity, or private citizen wanted to claim the bridge. Located next to the intersection of West Guernsey and Guernsey Roads, situated some two miles northeast of Biglerville, in Butler township, Adams county, the “Humpback Bridge” was neither maintained by the Adams county commissioners nor the Butler township supervisors. The Gettysburg Railroad, which had been sold several times over the past several decades, had no record of it. Thus the PUC had intervened.

The Guernsey bridge, however, had not been completely forgotten. A grass-roots group, Friends of the Guernsey Bridge, was organized to prevent the bridge’s destruction. But when the group sought to acquire it in order to preserve it, it encountered a stumbling block: the identity of the bridge’s owner. “Who is the present owner of the Humpback Bridge?”

In February 2001, I was hired by the Friends of the Guernsey Bridge to try to answer the question of ownership. What I uncovered,
the subject of this article, was not only its date of construction and its original builder, but also an interesting story of the formation of Guernsey that intertwined with the history of two prominent Adams county families, the Griests and the Tysons.

* * * *

The site of Guernsey and its humpback bridge is mostly located on land that can be traced back to the Penn family’s ‘Possum Creek Manor (see map, figure 3). It encompassed the majority of the present site of Biglerville, Butler township north of Rt. 234. Its northern border crossed Rt. 34 about 1.35 miles north of its intersection with Rt. 234. Approximately three-quarters of the manor’s acreage lay east of Rt. 34, with a portion of its eastern boundary line approximating present-day Guernsey Road (T-534 south). Guernsey itself is situated along the manor’s eastern boundary.¹

The authority for William Penn and his sons to erect manors in their proprietary colony of Pennsylvania was contained in the nineteenth section of the Charter of King Charles II to William Penn in 1681. In 1741, two manors were warranted to the Penns in what is now Adams county: on June 14, the famous Manor of Maske situated about the Marsh creek watershed, encompassing portions of Cumberland, Hamiltonban, and Strahan townships, and on November 14 the lesser-known ‘Possum Creek Manor in Menallen township located a short distance north of the Manor of Maske and about one mile southwest of ‘Possum Creek.

‘Possum Creek Manor was first surveyed on October 26, 1742, by William Parsons.² As first defined, the manor encompassed some 988 acres. Although the land was to be reserved exclusively for the Penn family, a situation similar to the Manor of Maske developed: pioneers squatted on the land. Thirty-four years later, on January 24, 1774, Archibald McClean resurveyed ‘Possum Creek Manor, establishing that it actually contained 1,047.5 acres. He also noted that “The Whole of the said Tract is settled and considerably improved by sundry Persons.”³ On June 9, 1775, the manor was surveyed a third time, by John Dill.⁴ The Penn family retained legal title to the manor until the turn of the century. On June 28, 1804, John and Thomas Penn through their attorney John R. Coates sold the entire manor to Alexander Cobeau of Baltimore, Maryland, for $870.⁵
The identity of and the date when these early settlers squatted on the manor lands between 1741 and 1804 are shrouded in mystery. Based on a land draft drawn ca. 1804, probably for Alexander Cobean in anticipation of his purchase, there were some fourteen squatters who had claimed some 1,085 acres, 87 perches.\(^6\)

One of the squatters was a George Hartzell whose 122-acre, 144-perch tract included the majority of the site of Guernsey. Notations on the land draft suggest that some time prior to 1804 Hartzell had acquired the parcel from a William Stewart. According to one of the earliest surviving Menallen township tax records, a William Stewart was assessed for 100 acres in 1779. Checking Adams county tax records, the assessor in the 1802 record (compiled the fall of 1801) noted that a George Hartzell, “Jr.” had acquired two tracts from a George Slaybaugh. Hartzell’s name first appeared in the tax records as early as the 1800 record as owning 140 acres and some 50 acres of mountain land.

Although there is no solid documentation, the information recorded by the Menallen township tax assessors suggests that sometime between the fall of 1796 and the fall of 1799, Slaybaugh had acquired the land from a David Stewart, possibly a relative of the William referred to in the ca. 1804 land draft. Moreover, at some time prior to 1800 the 122-acre farmstead had been enlarged by some 18 acres. Based on later recorded deeds, the additional acreage most likely included a rectangular-shaped parcel situated outside the manor, but adjacent to the northeast corner of the Stewart-Hartzell manor lands. The 18-acre parcel had been part of a plantation that had been acquired by a John Cox as early as 1742.\(^7\)

Menallen, Butler, and Franklin township tax records show that members of the Hartzell family populated the area of the Conewago and ‘Possum Creek watersheds during the latter part of the eighteenth and the nineteenth centuries. Tax records and the D. Small and W. Wagner 1821 Map of York and Adams Counties noted that a George Hartzell operated a mill along the Conewago Creek, situated in present Butler township where present B & F Road (T-646) crosses the stream about 1.5 miles northeast of Mummasburg.

But which George Hartzell had purchased the subject 140-acre property from Slaybaugh? Bender’s Lutheran church tombstone inscriptions indicated that there were at least three George Hartzells alive during the first two decades of the 1800s, born in 1749, 1772, and

---

\(^6\) Notations on the land draft suggest that some time prior to 1804 Hartzell had acquired the parcel from a William Stewart.

\(^7\) Based on later recorded deeds, the additional acreage most likely included a rectangular-shaped parcel situated outside the manor, but adjacent to the northeast corner of the Stewart-Hartzell manor lands.
1798. Based on a survey of early tax records, we surmise that the Hartzell who acquired the acreage from Slaybaugh was the George born on October 31, 1772, and died on December 12, 1838.

As his farm flourished, George Hartzell decided to improve his living conditions. A date-stone inscription reveals that in 1811 Hartzell built a two-story, side gabled, brick house on the subject farm. However, Hartzell, along with other Adams countians, developed financial troubles during the 1820s as the nation was thrust into a depression. The Bank of Gettysburg (today a branch of PNC Bank), applicant of William Maxwell’s estate, filed suit against Hartzell with the Adams county courts. By virtue of a writ of venditoni exponas, on November 27, 1825, Sheriff Thomas C. Miller sold to the bank for $2,060 the following:

a tract of land in the township of Menallen . . . adjoining lands of Jacob Bosserman, David Stewart, Sam’l Wright & others, containing [140] acres more or less on which are erected a large two-story brick house, brick Bank barn, brick smoke house, stone spring house, & etc. . . .

Two years later the bank through its attorney, John B. McPherson, sold the 140-acre farm for $3,000 on June 29, 1826, to John L. Sadler, Jr. He retained it for ten years when he sold the farm to Joseph Dill for $3,000 on March 14, 1836, the same day that Dill sold his land in Huntington township to Sadler. A year later, Dill and his wife sold the subject farm on March 20, 1837, to George J. Hartzell.

According to his county death certificate, George J. Hartzell (1798-1853) was a son of George (1772-1838) and Maria (Bream) Hartzell. On April 4, 1819, George J. married the former Mary “Polly” Gelwicks.

Two years after his marriage, on May 17, 1821, George J. Hartzell acquired 75 acres from “George Hartzell, Sr.” Based on title lineage, the 1775 Dill survey, the 1804 land draft of Possum Creek Manor, and Menallen township tax records, the 75-acre parcel – which some 46 years earlier had been part of the plantations of John Cox and William Osburn – abutted the Stewart-Hartzell farm’s manor lands on the east and the Hartzell farm’s 18-acre section on the south. Sixteen years later George J. purchased his father’s manor farm at the sheriff’s sale.
In 1852, George J. sold the 75-acre tract to his son, Charles A. Hartzell. He retained the property until 1857 when he sold it to Samuel and Joanna Johnson who, in turn, sold it to Jacob Kime on March 23, 1864.  

George J. Hartzell retained the 140-acre manor farm until his death on June 13, 1853. Widow Mary Hartzell remained on the farm until her death on September 12, 1859, at the age of 63 years, 3 months, 28 days. Seven months later George J. Hartzell’s heirs – Lebright E. Hartzell and wife; Charles A Hartzell and his wife; Matilda Hartzell; Ezebiah Hartzell and wife; Zepheniah Hartzell and wife; and Rachael Bender and husband, Jonathan – sold their interest in the farm to their sibling, Frederick Hartzell, on April 23, 1860. Two years later Frederick Hartzell and his wife, Mary, sold the 140-acre farm to Cyrus S. Griest on March 29, 1862 for $5,800.

Cyrus S. Griest was the man responsible for the construction of the Sunny Side railroad station and subsequently the creation of the hamlet of Guernsey, and most likely the person responsible for the construction of the Guernsey Bridge.

Cyrus Samuel Griest was a grandson of William and Ann (McMillan) Griest, and a son of Cyrus Griest (1803-69). Born on May 29, 1803, the elder Cyrus married at the age of twenty-three years on March 2, 1826, to Mary Ann Cook, a daughter of Samuel and Jane (Warner) Cook. Cyrus S. was born in York county on March 1, 1835, one of nine children.

About 1837, Cyrus and Mary moved their family to Quaker valley in Menallen township, an area later named Wrightsville, then Floradale. Educated at home and in public schools, Cyrus S. briefly attended the “Academy at London Grove” in Chester county. There, at the age of 26 years, Cyrus S. married the former Letitia Broome of Upper Oxford township on March 20, 1861. Returning to Adams county, besides being a co-owner of several farms with his brothers and father, Cyrus purchased the old “Hartzell” farm in 1862. Except for a two-year period, Cyrus and his wife spent the rest of their lives on their Butler township farm (see figure 4).

Five years after purchasing the Hartzell farm, Griest contemplated a move to Gettysburg. On November 12, 1867, Cyrus and Letitia purchased a house and 1-acre lot on the north side of the Chambersburg turnpike from Perry J. and Sarah E. Tate, today the site of the Gettysburg Post Office on Buford Avenue. Although the
Griests retained this property until March 27, 1876, a sale advertisement for the Gettysburg property that appeared in the May 17, 1870, Star and Sentinel implied that they had returned to Butler township after a two-year hiatus.

During their time together, Cyrus and Letitia were blessed with seven children: Emilie Belle, born June 3, 1862, who married Aaron I. Wiedner on April 17, 1909; Mary Esther, born May 21, 1864; Florence J., born May 3, 1866, who married Charles Michener on November 17, 1887; Elizabeth, born July 18, 1868; George C., born April 21, 1873, who married Harriette Asher of New Haven, Connecticut, on August 4, 1898; Cyrus Arthur, born August 25, 1878, who married Lula E. Wierman on December 3, 1911; and Maurice E., born September 22, 1883, who married Marguerite Heacock of Philadelphia, on September 21, 1910.

In his obituary in the August 15, 1918, Gettysburg Times, Cyrus S. Griest was noted as “a successful farmer and orchardist, a man of business ability, and one whose influence was not only for the material progress of the community in which he resided but for the general good and uplift of that section.” He kept “the most profitable grades of stock, having a fine herd of Guernsey cows.” Cyrus was also associated with the Citizens Trust Company of Gettysburg, serving as one of its original directors from its incorporation on February 18, 1904, until 1914.

Cyrus was also a member of the Society of Friends. During the 1880s and 1890s, he was appointed to various committees, served as clerk of the day numerous times, recorder of marriage certificates, trustee of the Menallen, Huntington, and Warrington Meetings, overseer, and one-time representative to the Friends Meeting in York. He was also a member of a local agricultural organization. As noted in the December 1, 1885, Star and Sentinel, “The Farmers’ meeting was held at the house of C. S. Griest on Saturday night, with a full attendance.”

As Adams county prospered during the antebellum period, the farms between the Newville and Carlisle Roads (today Rt. 34 and “Old Carlisle Road,” S. R. 4001, respectively) and situated northeast of a crossroads later named “Middletown” (present Biglerville) were relatively isolated — no public roadway provided area farmers easy access to existing county roads that led to market or mill. To correct this, a
year after the death of George J. Hartzell, a petition was filed with the Court of Quarter Sessions of Adams county in 1854. The court ordered viewers to lay out a public road in Butler township "from a point on the road from Gettysburg to Newville (Rt. 34), on the lands of Jacob and Lazarus Weidner, to the Gettysburg and Carlisle Road (Old Carlisle Road) on lands of Jacob Bushey." In the viewers' report to the court, dated October 20, 1854, a pertinent part of the description of the road's courses and distances read as follows:


Comparing this to the deed description of the farm that Frederick Hartzell sold to Cyrus S. Griest in 1862, the first two emphasized courses and distances very closely match a portion of the farm's northern boundary starting at its northwestern-most point. The third emphasized course closely matches a portion of the southern boundary of the farm's eighteen-acre tract situated just east of the farm's manor lands. This road, confirmed by the court on March 20, 1855, appears on G. M. Hopkins's 1858 Atlas Map of Adams County. Today, this Biglerville-to-Center Mills thoroughfare is designated as West Guernsey and Guernsey roads (S. R. 4002 or L. R. 01019 and T-535, respectively).

The 1858 map also suggested that sometime between 1855 and 1858 a school house was built on the south side of the road about 900 feet to the east of the Griest's farm 18-acre tract. The school house, later called "Sunny Side," was moved about a half mile west to a lot situated on the north side of the 1855 public road about 0.2 miles east of Griest's farmhouse. Indeed, on September 11, 1863, one of Griest's neighbors, William J. Peters and his wife, Eliza, for one dollar trans-
ferred a 1/2 acre lot to the School Directors of Butler Township. Peters’s land, part of the ‘Possum Creek Manor, had been claimed by Benjamin Wright sometime prior to 1804, when Cobean purchased the manor tract from the Penn family. Cobean relinquished his claim to Wright’s farm on March 2, 1809. Fifty-seven days later Benjamin transferred the acreage to Samuel B. Wright on April 28, 1809. Retaining it for 24 years, he sold it on May 26, 1835, to William H. Wright. After his death, the land was transferred on March 31, 1856, to Henry G. Kosser, who, in turn, sold it to William J. Peters on April 1, 1859. The schoolhouse lot was located at a southeast corner of Peters’s farm and abutted a portion of Griest’s farm to the east. Moreover, that section of the road located about 0.2 miles east of the new schoolhouse site had become a dogleg - traveling eastward, the road turned 90 degrees to the north and after about 100 feet turned 90 degrees to east.22 We suspect that the dogleg was created so the public roadway precisely followed the crest of the high ground there and the boundaries between Griest’s and Charles A. Hartzell’s 75-acre tract (see map, figure 5).

With the United States emerging as an industrial nation and as interest in the Gettysburg battlefield grew after the end of the Civil War, a second railroad was built to Gettysburg in the early 1880s. The establishment of that rail line also meant the construction of stations along the line. Wherever a station was built, it spurred commercial and residential development there.

As noted in the January 15, 1882, Star and Sentinel, Jay Cooke and Colonel J. C. Fuller of the South Mountain Railroad proposed a new line that was of “great importance to the north end of the county, in opening up a market for agricultural products and stimulating industry of all kinds.” A month later, the February 15 Star and Sentinel noted that the new line would also “bring Gettysburg within two hours’ ride of Harrisburg and open up a direct route to the coal and lumber regions of the north and west, and the limestone supply of the Cumberland Valley. Passenger travel... now necessarily circuitous and attended by provoking delay, would be direct, connecting at Harrisburg with leading railroads running in all directions.”

During the spring of 1882, several railroad organizational meetings were held in the Adams county court house. As reported in the 10 May Star and Sentinel, an executive committee of fifteen Adams countians were formed until the new railroad company was officially
organized. In part, the executive committee was empowered to canvas for some $100,000 in subscriptions, secure releases and settle damage claims from landowners, and oversee regional committees that would be formed. Not only was Cyrus S. Griest a member of the Middletown group, but he was also a vice president of the executive committee. By autumn enough funds had been raised – $80,000. As reported in the October 11, 1882, *Star and Sentinel*, the Gettysburg and Harrisburg Railway Company (GHRR) received its charter from the state on the 6th. The incorporators also noted that the company’s capital stock stood at $250,000.

Progress on the rail line was faithfully covered in the Gettysburg newspapers. Construction of the 22-mile long GHRR began in earnest by November 1882 and took some fifteen months to complete. Beginning at Hunter’s Run, located on the border between South Middleton and Dickinson townships in Cumberland county (southern terminus of the South Mountain Railroad), about five miles south of Mt. Holly Springs, construction progressed towards Gettysburg. The railroad was officially opened with a ceremonial driving of two golden rail spikes a short distance northwest of Gettysburg on February 26, 1884, although passenger service did not begin until April 28.

Of particular note, the July 25, 1883, *Star and Sentinel*, reported that the firm of “Cofrode and Taylor, Philadelphia, have the contract for all the wooden bridges along the line including the trestle bridge at the big fill [near Asper’s Mill]. . . .” By late fall of 1883, construction had reached Butler township. As noted in the December 19, 1883, *Star and Sentinel*, “The new bridge over Opossum Creek is now almost complete and the trestle at Sunny Side is now being built, so that track laying will be continued as rapidly as possible” (emphasis added).

When the railroad surveyors laid out the line’s right-of-way, they created problems for landowners and construction crews alike. Crossing ‘Possum Creek, the line approached Biglerville (Middletown) from the northeast. Possibly due to grade restrictions and an attempt to cause the least inconvenience to farmers, as the right-of-way reached Griest’s farm, it curved due south at the dogleg on the 1855 road and then paralleled a portion of Griest’s eastern boundary (originally the eastern border of the ‘Possum Creek Manor). A 15-foot deep railroad cut was dug adjacent to the road’s dogleg that cut the public road in twain, and, in turn, complicated Griest’s access to some four acres southeast of the rail line that was part of his 18-acre non-manor parcel.
Griest (a member of the county railroad executive committee) and representatives of the railroad company reached an agreement sometime during the latter part of 1882. Unfortunately, this instrument was not recorded at the Adams county court house. However, it was referenced in several recorded deeds. The agreement stipulated that:

a fifty (50) feet wide right of way of the Gettysburg & Harrisburg Railroad Company [was] granted by the said Cyrus S. Griest unto said Company for Railroad purposes by release dated the 25th day of January 1883, wherein the said Cyrus S. Griest released the said Railroad Company of all damages by reason of the location and occupation of said right of way in consideration whereof the said Railroad Company agreed to make and maintain proper fences along said right of way and further agreed to give the said Cyrus S. Griest a suitable wagon passage where most desirable over or under said railroad so as to connect the lands of said Cyrus S. Griest and further to locate a permanent station at Sunny Side Crossroads, with a suitable side Track accommodation for the individual use of said Cyrus S. Griest [emphasis added].

We strongly suspect that, pursuant to the January 25, 1883, agreement, Griest’s bridge or the first version of the Guernsey bridge was the “trestle at Sunny Side” most likely built by the firm of Cofrode and Taylor during the week of December 19. Indeed, the bridge was completed by the spring of 1884, for a deed dated March 13, wherein Griest and his wife sold a 2-acre tract to his brother-in-law, Andrew J. Koser, noted that the point of beginning of the tract’s physical description was “at a post in the Public Road at the plank of the Bridge across the H and G Railroad.”

Unfortunately, there are no known photographs or engineering drawings of the original bridge. Based in part on existing physical evidence, we suspect that the bridge’s design was similar to the present structure, but the abutments and trestle footers were probably made of stone.

Assuming that Griest’s agreement with the railroad led to the construction of the “trestle at Sunny Side,” why build it over the rail-
road cut when the bridge’s eastern end was virtually at the edge of Griest’s property and an at-grade crossing was eventually established about 1000 yards up the rail line? Griest might have been looking out for his own extended family’s interests. In the 1883 agreement, the GHRR agreed to build a station at Sunny Side and provide a siding for Griest both of which were constructed on a southern section of his 18-acre tract east of his manor lands – a 4-acre parcel sandwiched between the railroad right of way and the 1855 public road. Undoubtedly, a railroad depot would draw commercial development to its vicinity and property values would rise. Indeed, about 70 feet east of Griest’s bridge, on April 1, 1885, Maria E. Tyson, Cyrus’ sister, purchased a 6-acre, 24-perch tract from Jacob Kime.

Griest, however, might also have been looking out for the interests of his neighbors. Prior to the railroad, there were no public “crossroads at Sunny Side.” As can be clearly seen in the 1872 map of Butler township, there was farmland on either side of the 1855 roadway about a quarter mile east of the Sunny Side School. At the road’s dogleg, an access lane led due south and then southwest to the “E. [Edward, 1839-1916] Brough” farmhouse. When the railroad was laid out at Sunny Side in December 1883, the cut undermined the 1855 road, thus denying farmers west of the rail line the easy access they had enjoyed for 28 years to the gristmill at Center Mills. Edward Brough, Jacob Kime, and other farmers east and south of the rail line were also denied direct access to the western section of the 1855 public road.

Topography also played a part. In the vicinity of its dogleg, the public road had been strategically located along a low ridge. Immediately to the south, the ground undulated. With the installation of the railroad bed running in a north-south direction, formidable embankments were created. The bed was high enough that to create an at-grade crossing, considerable fill would have been needed, and the diverted roadway would further dissected Griest farm lands. At the same time, the railroad embankment was too low to create a railroad bridge without excavating surrounding farmland to create an adequate passageway. To the north, the ground also undulated, but the railroad right-of-way paralleled the ridge’s northern slope. A new roadway along the north slope of the ridge would also further dissect Griest’s lands and other neighboring farms. Thus, the best location of the public road was along the high ground where it had been laid out in 1855.

The construction of Griest’s bridge insured that the public had
unhindered and relatively safe travel over the railroad to the grist mill at Center Mills. It also insured that Griest had a more convenient access to his four acres south of the railroad right-of-way and that Brough had access to the public road without sacrificing additional acreage to lay out a new access lane.

The construction of the railroad through his farm motivated Griest to sell parts of it. As noted earlier, about two weeks after the railroad was officially opened and three months after construction of Griest's bridge, Griest sold a 2-acre tract to his brother-in-law, Andrew J. Koser on March 13, 1884, on which he built his home a year later. This tract was situated along the west side of the railroad right-of-way, fronting on the south berm of present West Guernsey road, and abutted the west end of the bridge.

A month later, on April 10, 1884, for $1000 Griest and his wife sold a 4-acre parcel (3 acres, 148 perches) - site of the Sunny Side Stations - to Josiah W. Prickett and Charles Michener, a future Griest son-in-law. The Prickett & Michener parcel was located a short distance northeast of the bridge, sandwiched between the south side of the railroad right of way and the north side of present Guernsey Road (T-535). But development on this tract had started a month before Griest's Bridge was built. The November 14, 1883, Star and Sentinel reported that Josiah Prickett of New Jersey had purchased 2.5 acres and the railroad "switch" (siding?) of Cyrus S. Griest, and was then building "quite a large warehouse."

As the Prickett warehouse was nearing completion, Griest anticipated the construction of a creamery. The September 9, 1884, Star and Sentinel's "Bigler Items" noted that C. S. Griest was digging a well and intended to build a creamery on the GHRR. Indeed, as reported in the November 18, 1884, Star and Sentinel:

C. S. Griest is rapidly pushing forward the new creamery building at Sunny Side. Charles Michener, of the firm of Prickett & Michener, is now in Lancaster county learning to operate the machinery, and will be ready to take charge of the business by January 1st, at which time the building will be completed and the machines in running order.

Deed and tax records indicate that Griest built his creamery a
short distance from the west end of the bridge, about 200 feet north of present West Guernsey road (see figure 6).

But not all the development at Sunny Side Station was commercial. As reported in the September 23, 1883, Star and Sentinel, while Griest and his wife took a trip to Baltimore and Virginia, a neighboring property owner to the north and east, John Heiges, was building a new house near Sunny Side. Deed records and the map of Butler township in the 1872 Atlas of Adams County reveal that his new house was a two-story brick structure build on the north side of the 1855 public road about a quarter mile east of Griest’s bridge (see figure 7).

With improvements at Sunny Side, we suspect other local farmers lobbied for public roads to be laid out to link surrounding areas to the new depot. The 1872 map of Butler township and a USGS topographic map dated 1908, disclose that during that period two new roads were opened. One roadway, today the southwestern portion of Guernsey road (T-534 south), was laid out from the eastern end of Griest’s bridge and led due south to the old York-Menallen road (Rt. 234). The other roadway, today Quaker Run Road (T-534 north), extended due north from Griest’s creamery tract. A perusal of the county road docket books from 1855 to 1910 did not reveal when those roads were officially opened. We suspect they were laid out a short time after the railroad line was completed to Sunny Side (ca. 1883-86), but they were definitely in place by 1908 (see map, figure 8).

Moreover, three driveways were in use by 1908 – all probably opened about the same time. One driveway, about 100 feet in length, led from the south end of Quaker Run Road located just north of Griest’s creamery to the railroad depot situated on the south side of the railroad right of way. This driveway created an at-grade crossing some 155 feet northeast of Griest’s bridge. Because the depot was only seventy feet north of the 1855 public road, moreover, a second drive led from the station up the ridge to the road. The third driveway, some 150 feet in length, led from the southern end of Quaker Run Road (squeezing between Griest’s creamery and the railroad right of way) to West Guernsey road at the west end of Griest’s bridge. Based on deed descriptions of properties over which these driveways were laid, they were laid out over private property.

Immediately, the depot at Sunny Side drew considerable business. As noted in “Butler [township] Items” column in the May 5, 1885, Star and Sentinel,
Sunny Side now promises to be one of the best business points along the new R. R. between Gettysburg and Hunter's Run. Supt. Woodward was there last week, making arrangements to have the siding raised and a platform erected to load and unload freight, the freight traffic being so large that it is a necessity. G. [Z.] J. Peters has opened a new store besides many other business facilities the place affords.

A post office was also established at Sunny Side Station. Unfortunately, “Sunny Side” was already the name of a post office in Allegheny county, established in 1864. Griest had a herd of cows – Guernsey cows – on his farm, probably one of the reasons why Griest insisted in the 1883 agreement that the railroad maintain proper fencing along the line through his land. Although we could find no contemporary documentation why the post office at Sunny Side was named Guernsey when it was opened on October 1, 1884, by postmaster Josiah W. Prickett, it probably was named after the bovines owned by Griest, the principal developer of the village at Sunny Side Station.30

On May 5, 1885, the Star and Sentinel reported

TO THE PUBLIC - The undersigned has just opened a new store at Guernsey, on the G. & H. R. R., where will be found a full line of Dry Goods, Groceries, Notions, Hats and Shoes, and everything usually kept in a first-class county store. He simply asks the public to call and see what he has, and convince themselves that they can buy cheap for cash. Any kind of goods not on hand will be ordered on very short notice direct from Philadelphia [sic].


The railroad company improved its operations by installing telegraphs at their depots including the one at Guernsey. The May 12, 1885, Star and Sentinel reported that “Quite a number of persons
passed over the [line], on Monday to Gettysburg. The company has put telegraph communications at nearly every station. . . ." Guernsey also proved a popular depot for travelers and vacationers. The July 7, 1885, *Star and Sentinel* noted in its “Butler Items” that

> Among the visitors here last week we notice William Peters and his wife of Gettysburg; Henry, Franklin, and Hiram Pensyl of Altoona; Rev. E. Weigle and family of Littlestown, and Mr. Zilba T. Moore of Longport, New Jersey. This vicinity is never without its visitors in the summer season.

The partnership of Prickett and Michener dissolved during the summer of 1885. Probably due to his added responsibility as Guernsey’s postmaster, Prickett officially transferred his half interest in the 3-acre, 148-perch property to Andrew J. Koser on December 14. Three years later, Koser and Michener tri-sected the tract. On March 29, 1888, for $200 Michener sold his half interest in a 1-acre, 69-perch eastern section to Koser and, in turn, Koser sold his half interest in an 1-acre, 80-perch center section to Michener. He and Koser retained joint ownership of the remaining western section that was improved with the railroad station and warehouse. The 1888 Butler township tax record, compiled the fall of 1887, implies that Michener built a “new house” that year, the two-story, side gabled dwelling that presently stands on the center section of the Prickett and Michener tract (see figure 9). On March 4, 1890, for $2,500 Michener and his wife, the former Florence Griest, transferred the 1-acre, 80-perch central section to Letitia B. Griest, Cyrus’ wife. Six months later, on September 11, Michener and Koser with their spouses sold for $500 the western section that included the railroad station and a warehouse to George Wilmer Koser, Andrew’s son.31

As contractors worked on Michener’s brick house in 1887, Cyrus S. Griest sold a parcel to two of his children, Emilie Belle and Mary E. Griest. These sisters served as teachers in Butler township schools.32 On November 12, two years after the establishment of the Guernsey station, Griest and his wife, Letitia B., sold to their daughters for $1,500 a 33-perch (0.2 acre) parcel that was sandwiched between the railroad right of way on the north, Guernsey road on the south, and the Guernsey bridge and the railroad on the west, and the railroad depot.
on the east. Butler township tax records suggest that Cyrus built a
store, a two-and-a-half-story brick structure, on this parcel sometime
between the fall of 1887 and the fall of 1888 when the assessor noted
in the 1889 record that “1 lot & store” was transferred to the Griest sis-
ters from Cyrus (see figure 10).33

Ten years later the Star and Sentinel published in its April 13,
1897, issue a business index of the county. Although the post office was
called Guernsey, apparently locals and the railroad still referred to the
hamlet as “Sunny Side Station.” Besides the warehouse of G. W. Koser,
“Dealer in Grain, Feed, Seeds, Coal and Fertilizers,” who had a “tele-
phone connection,” a general store was operated by Griest’s daughter,
E. Belle, a “Dealer in Dry Goods, Notions, Groceries, etc. also Butter,
Eggs, Poultry, etc.” There was no mention of a creamery, however.

With the passage of time, tragedy struck the Griest household.
On May 5, 1898, after some 37 years of marriage, Letitia died at the
age of 60 years, 9 months, 3 days. Two years later, Cyrus married Mary
Ann Wright, his third cousin, on November 21, 1900. At the age of 65
years, Cyrus considered retirement.34 During the first decade of the
twentieth century, he sold off portions of his farm to his brother-in-law,
Charles J. Tyson.

Charles J. Tyson and his brother, Isaac G., Quakers born in
Burlington county, New Jersey, moved in August 1859 from
Philadelphia to Gettysburg, where they established a photographic
studio. On April 30, 1863, Charles married Maria Edith Griest, Cyrus’s
sister. The Tyson brothers were two of the first photographers to take
images of the Gettysburg Battlefield in 1863. In 1864, Charles brought
a one-third interest in the Spring Dale nurseries of Cyrus Griest and
Sons in Menallen township, and a year later sold out his interest in the
photographic studio. Rejoining his brother in the gallery for a brief
time (1866-7), Charles Tyson sold the business to William H. Tipton
and Robert A. Myers. In 1869, Charles purchased a 167-acre farm in
Menallen township that abutted the Menallen Friends Meeting House
situated along the Carlisle Road (Rt. 34) north of Floradale. Remaining
in the nursery business until 1875, Tyson sold out and in 1880 became
associated with the Susquehanna Fertilizer Company of Baltimore
City on whose board he served as president for a number of years. He
also was instrumental in the establishment of the Gettysburg and
Harrisburg Railroad through Menallen township during 1882-4.35
During their lifetime together, Charles and Maria Tyson were blessed with four children: Edwin Comly, born on August 28, 1864, who married Mary Willis Hawkhurst of Old Westbury, Long Island, on June 5, 1887; Mary Anna, born August 1, 1866, who married Zachariah Jesse Peters on April 30, 1888; Chester Julian, born September 4, 1877, who married Bertha Charity Hawkhurst on February 16, 1901; and William Cyrus, born September 24, 1879, who married Edna Kerr of Peoria, Illinois on June 17, 1912. With development at Guernsey, Tyson decided to invest in real estate there. As noted previously, on April 1, 1885, Marie E. Tyson, Charles's wife, purchased from Jacob and Eliza Kime a 6-acre, 24-perch rectangular-shaped tract that abutted C. S. Griest's farm just southeast of Guernsey Bridge and the south property line of the old Prickett and Michener warehouse tract. This acreage had been part of the 75-acre tract that George Hartzell, Sr., had sold to George J. Hartzell in 1821, who, in turn, sold it to his son, Charles A. Hartzell.

Near the close of the nineteenth century, Tyson decided to move back to Adams county. On November 29, 1898, for $500 Charles J. Tyson of Baltimore purchased from G. W. Koser and his wife, Elizabeth, the western section of the old Prickett and Michener tract that included the depot and warehouse. Nearly thirteen months later, on December 23, 1899, Tyson also purchased Andrew J. Koser's house and 2-acre parcel, and the eastern section of the old Prickett and Michener tract for $3,500.

Andrew J. Koser and his son, George W., who had operated the warehouse at Guernsey, moved into Biglerville. There they established another warehouse. Tragically, on July 5, 1909, Andrew died of a fractured skull as a result of an equestrian hit-and-run accident. George W. Koser continued in the warehouse business and became one of the outstanding citizens of upper Adams county. Besides operating his Biglerville warehouse for some 50 years, he served as clerk of courts for Adams county (1897-1900); was one of the principal founders of the Biglerville National Bank, serving on its board of directors for some 30 years; participated in the Pennsylvania Guernsey Breeders Association; and as a "hobby," rehabilitated a number farms. In 1927, he was one of a group of men who decided to hold an agricultural fair in upper Adams county. This evolved into the present South Mountain Fair. Charles J. Tyson continued to buy and improve properties in the
vicinity of Guernsey. On October 15, 1900, C. S. Griest sold him 0.63 acres for $150, a 75’ x 368’ strip abutting the west side of the old A. J. Koser 2-acre house tract. Three months later, on 7 January 1901, Tyson purchased for one dollar from the heirs of Letitia Griest an 825-square foot, triangular-shaped plot of the center section of the former Prickett and Michener tract. A year later, on 27 March 1902, Tyson purchased a 6-acre, 60-perch tract for $800 from George W. and Blanche G. Peters. This parcel had been part of John Heiges’ farm (formerly the Jacob Bosserman property), abutting a portion of northern and eastern boundary line of Griest’s farm, and fronting on the west berm of Quaker Run Road (T-534 north). The Butler township tax assessor also noted that during 1901 Tyson improved one of his properties, the 2-acre A. J. Koser tract, and moved there by that fall.39

Based on existing physical evidence, Tyson added several rear additions, a tower, and numerous bay windows onto the old Koser house (see figure 11). We also suspect that during the ca. 1901 renovations, a tower was added to a two-story, frame barn (see figure 12).

However, Father Time caught up with Charles J. Tyson. Developing Bright’s disease, he died on December 22, 1906, at the age of 68 years. In the obituary that appeared in the December 26 Gettysburg Compiler, Tyson was described as “one of the most enterprising citizens of the county...[who] carried out the prosperous career of a self-made man having the esteem and the respect of a wide circle of friends and acquaintances.” He “possessed a progressive spirit which carried into all his undertakings.”

As Charles J. Tyson had acquired properties about Guernsey, Cyrus S. Griest sold off additional parcels. On April 12, 1905, for $1,300 he sold to the Cleaver Produce Company of Philadelphia his creamery tract encompassing “65 perches and 244 square feet.” Seven months later Griest sold an 84-perch, 136-square foot parcel to Willis W. Lady on November 11, 1905. This parcel abutted the southeast corner of the bridge – nestled between the railroad right-of-way on the west; a “public road” that ran from a “point on the bridge” to another public road on the north; a public road (Guernsey Road – T-534 south) and a portion of Maria E. Tyson’s six-acre tract on the east; and other lands of Cyrus S. Griest on the south.40 Deed and Butler township tax records suggest Griest built a two-story frame house on this site ca. 1900 (see figure 13).

Within a year, the former Griest creamery changed owners again.
On October 18, 1906, the Cleaver Produce Company sold it for $3,000 to Isaac W. Hershey of “Derry Church,” Dauphin county. On 2 January 1907, Isaac and his wife, Emma M, sold a half interest in their holdings to Paris N. and Ephraim N. Hershey. On 27 March 1908, Isaac purchased the Willis W. Lady property for $1,450 on 27 March 1908. Then on 10 November 1909, Isaac, Paris and Ephraim formed the Hershey Creamery Company whose business address by 1915 was 68 South Cameron Street, Harrisburg. The Butler township tax assessor noted in the 1910 record that the Hershey company also purchased the creamery of Aaron Hostetter in Butler township. However, the Hershey brothers retained their Guernsey properties only for a short time. On 11 March 1915, for $1,900 the Hershey Creamery Company sold the Griest creamery and former Lady tracts to Henry L. Rouzer.41

Closer to home, Cyrus S. Griest’s neighbor to the north, Solomon Meals, died. His executor, J. J. Meals, sold a parcel to J. Harvey Stevens and his wife, Bertha, on March 25, 1910. This L-shaped parcel abutted the north and west sides of the Sunny Side School lot. Six days later, Stevens sold a 4-acre, 33-perch tract to Lola W. and C. Arthur Griest. Based on a 1908 UGS topographic map that shows a structure standing adjacent to the Sunny Side School, we suspect that sometime prior to 1908, Meals entered into an agreement with Stevens to sell him a portion of his land along present West Guernsey Road on which was built a two-story, side-gabled, wood-frame house. However, a formal deed was not generated until 1910, possibly the year that Stevens fulfilled some financial arrangement with Meals or his heirs (see figure 14).42

Six years later, we suspect that Butler township school directors had decided to construct a larger Sunny Side school that required additional land. On April 27, 1916, Lola W. and C. Arthur Griest sold to the School District of Butler township for $25, a 35’ x 134.5’ strip along the north side of the existing schoolhouse lot.43 About that time, or shortly thereafter, we suspect the present one-and-one-half-story, rectangular, hipped-roofed, brick school was constructed (see figure 15).

Between 1911 and 1915 negotiations occurred between the Gettysburg and Harrisburg Railway Company and at least two Guernsey property owners. On February 2, 1911, the railroad entered into a right-of-way agreement with Charles J. Tyson’s heirs – siding and driveways were to be permitted over the entire western section of the old Prickett and Michener tract improved with the Sunny Side
Station, and a small triangular piece of the center section acquired from the heirs of Letitia Griest.44

Four years later, the railroad desired additional lands adjacent to an aqueduct where the tracks crossed a stream about 340 yards south of the Guernsey bridge on Griest’s farm. On March 3, 1915, Griest and his wife, M. Alice, sold to the company for one dollar two pieces of land: a 35’ x 135’ strip on the east side of the right of way and another 20’ x 129’ parcel on its west side.45 Physical evidence today suggests that, possibly due to erosion, the railroad company needed the additional land to shore up the railroad bed and build the current concrete aqueduct.

During the first decade of the twentieth century Cyrus S. Griest also expanded his Butler township real estate holdings and decided officially to bring his sons into his farming enterprises. On March 13, 1901, for $4,000 he bought the 132-acre, 80-perch Solomon Meals farm that abutted his land and the Sunny Side school north of present West Guernsey Road. Seven years later, at the age of 73 years, Cyrus entered into a business partnership with his three sons, C. Arthur, George C. and Maurice E. Based on an entry in the 1909 Butler township tax record, by the fall of 1908, Cyrus had joined with his sons to form “C. S. Griest and Sons.” Transferring his home place (remnants of the Hartzell farm) and the Meals farm to the partnership, Cyrus retained the central section of the old Prickett and Michener parcel that his first wife, Letitia, had purchased in 1890, improved with a two-story brick house built for Charles Michener. However, deed lineage suggests that the Cyrus S. Griest farm was not officially transferred to the “co-partnership” of C. S. Griest and Sons until May 6, 1916, when it was sold for $6,500. At that time, of the three sons, only C. Arthur Griest resided in Butler township. George C. Griest had moved to Connecticut during the late 1890s and Maurice E. moved to New York City ca. 1910.46

After a fruitful life, Father Time caught up with Cyrus S. Griest. Possibly anticipating the end, Cyrus transferred his interest in the farms on May 5, 1918, to his sons who had formed Griest Brothers, Incorporated.47 Three months later, Cyrus died on August 5 at the age of 83 years, 5 months, 4 days. The remnant of the Griest home farm remained in the Griest family for another thirteen years. During this period, besides running the Griest orchards and farm businesses, C. Arthur Griest was elected to the state legislature for the year 1919-20.48
After the death of Charles J. Tyson, his heirs acquired additional land holdings in Guernsey. Deed records show that Tyson's sons, Edwin C. and Chester J., resided in Menallen township, while son William C. lived in Butler township, in the house at Guernsey built by A. J. Koser and enlarged by his father ca. 1901. In 1916, the Tysons desired more land about the old A. J. Koser property. On May 6, Griest and his wife sold to the Tyson heirs for $25 a 20' x 289.5' strip along the south boundary of the 2-acre A. J. Koser tract and its west end addition.49

As early as 1909, Edwin C., Chester J., and William C. had formed a partnership, Tyson Brothers. By June 19, 1916, they had formed Tyson Brothers, Inc., for that day they and their wives transferred their Menallen township land holdings to the new corporation for $4,000. Three years later, on March 29, 1919, Tyson Brothers, Inc., purchased for $1,600 from Harry L. Rouzer the old Lady tract located immediately south of the east end of the Guernsey Bridge. On September 4, 1920, Rouzer sold the old creamery tract to Edna Kerr, the wife of William C. Tyson.50

By 1920, with the end of the World War I and as the American economy and lucrative stock market blossomed, several Quaker businessmen from Floradale and Guernsey decided to embark of a different kind of enterprise. Possibly, the rolling farm land around Guernsey, its relative location in the country, and close proximity to a railroad depot that could bring in visitors spurred the businessmen to establish on or before July 17, 1920, the Quaker Valley Country Club (QVCC), the first of its kind in Adams county.

The purpose of the QVCC was to "maintain a country club for social purposes at or near Guernsey." The first member of the club's board of governors were C. Arthur Griest, William C. Tyson, and Frederick E. Griest, a first cousin of Arthur. The club's first subscription list contained the names of some 190 people, most from around the county, some of them Tyson and Griest family members or in-laws, and others from Hanover, Fayetteville, Philadelphia, and Warren, PA; and Baltimore, Hagerstown, Washington, D.C., Hamilton, Ohio, and New York City. One hundred of the subscribers were from Gettysburg alone and included Mr. and Mrs. J. Paxton Bigham, Mr. and Mrs. John D. Keith, William A. McClean and wife, Elsie Singmaster Lewars, Donald P. McPherson and wife, Mr. and Mrs. J. McCrea Dickson; W. A.
Granville and wife, Mr. and Mrs. Charles H. Huber, M. C. Jones, Mr. and Mrs. C. Ross Shuman, Dr. and Mrs. Milton Valentine, and Mr. and Mrs. Edmund E. Thomas. Other members included Dr. William E. Wolf and wife of Arendtsville, A. E. Rice of Biglerville, Mr. and Mrs. J. W. Gitt of Hanover, and Mr. and Mrs. Burton A. Alleman from Littlestown. With the addition of C. H. Huber and John D. Keith to the board, the latter met, and on June 1, 1912, adopted a constitution, by-laws, and regulations of the club.51

As stipulated in its constitution, the club’s purpose was “the maintenance of a club house to be enjoyed by its members for social purposes and the maintenance of pleasure of its members of necessary courses, grounds and courts for golf, tennis and like sports and games.” Membership was divided up into three classes - Class A, county residents; Class B, non-county residents; and Class C, junior members (children of members between the ages of 16 and 21 years). To join the QVCC, a person had to fill out an application and be certified by two members that he or she was “a fit person.” Initiation and annual dues varied between $15 and $25, based on membership classification. Fees to use the golf course or tennis courts were implemented based on amount of use - 50 cents a day. If a member used the facilities more than 20 days a year ($10), he or she was not assessed an additional user fee. The club’s annual meeting was to be held on New Year’s Eve at 8 P.M. Other business meetings could be called at the discretion of the board of governors. To transact business, a quorum was defined as 20 Class A members. The clubhouse was to be open 6 days a week 8:30 A.M. until midnight. It was closed from midnight Saturday until the following Monday morning. House rules included no gambling of any form or tipping of club employees by members or guests. General rules indicated, “No report shall be made or account published of any proceeding of the club or of anything that takes place in the club house without permission of the Board of Governors.” Two prohibitions of the club were: (1) that the clubhouse was closed on the Sabbath and (2) that the use, possession or display of any alcoholic or malt beverages on the premises was forbidden.

With the formation of the QVCC in the summer of 1920, construction of facilities was pushed forward. The site of the clubhouse was selected – Griest’s old creamery tract then owned by Edna Kerr Tyson (see figure 16). Construction was started, possibly as early as the spring of 1920, and completed by the following spring. As reported in the April 9, 1921, Gettysburg Compiler:
The Quaker Valley Country Club at Guernsey was formally thrown open to its members on Tuesday evening, April 5th. The Governors of the Club . . . sent out invitations to the members for the function to consist of a reception from 4 to 6 o'clock, supper from 6 to 8, and dancing from 8 to 12.

The opening . . . was a brilliant success . . . The building has gone through a wonderful transformation. Wide porches flank the house on three sides. The ground and second floors contain two huge picturesque fire places. On the ground floor there are shower baths for both men and women, and a rest room. On the main floor a large reception and dance room connects with the porches and makes a delightful place for such functions.

The furnishings and decorations, with blue as the predominant color have been most tastefully and artistically done and the ensemble of the place invites a welcome and delighted everyone who journeyed there.

The golf course is almost ready for use and covers 35 acres specially well adapted for the purpose. It is expected to have a man and woman take charge of the catering to the members and visitors. At present the roads towards the Club House can not be spoken of with any degree of enthusiasm, but when the Biglerville Road is completed [paved?], and that is promised by mid-summer, the Country Club will be most accessible from all points over good roads.

Two months later in its June 4, 1921, issue, the Gettysburg Times reported the following:

On June 29, an application will be made to Governor Sproul by William C. Tyson, Dr. William E. Wolf, M. C. Jones, and John D. Keith for a charter of an intended corporation to be called the "Quaker Valley Company, Incorporated." This corporation, if granted a charter, will have charge of operating the finances of the Quaker Valley Country Club located at Guernsey. Stock in the corporation will be sold to all members of the club who desire to purchase it.
Apparently, the QVCC needed additional space for its athletic facilities. On August 25, 1921, the Board of Governors and trustees of club entered into lease agreement with George A. Shank for the use of 11 acres, 130 perches of his land “for golfing, tennis and other sports only.” Over a five-year period, beginning April 1, 1921, and ending March 31, 1926, the trustees of the QVCC were to pay Shank a total of $705.40. At the end of the lease, the trustees had the option to renew it for another five years. This pentagonal-shaped parcel’s southern boundary bordered that portion of the Griest Brothers property located north of the rail line and east of present Quaker Run Road. Its western border fronted some 488 feet along the center line of Quaker Run Road and its southeast boundary bordered a “driveway” that ran along the north side of the railroad right-of-way.52

Nine months after its golf course was secured, the QVCC formally purchased the clubhouse tract from Edna Kerr, the wife of William C. Tyson, for $1,000.53

The precise boundaries of the QVCC are not known, for only the club house tract was ever officially deeded to the organization. The April 9, 1921, Gettysburg Compiler article suggests that, besides the parcel leased from Shank, some 23 acres owned by members of the Board of Governors (the Griest and Tyson brothers) were utilized. Logically, those lands probably included acreage surrounding the clubhouse – bordered on the west by the Sunny Side School and the Meals farm, on the south by present West Guernsey Road, and on the east, Quaker Run Road. Athletic facilities also probably included the Griest brothers’ parcel located east of Quaker Run Road and sandwiched between the leased tract, Shank’s other lands, and the railroad right-of-way. We also suspect that Tyson’s 6-acre parcel situated on the west side of present Quaker Run Road opposite the parcel leased from Shank was used (see map, figure 17).

As stipulated in the club’s by-laws, very few items concerning it were published in the newspapers. However, one controversy was covered during the summer of 1924. Members moved to have the club’s constitution amended to permit activities on Sunday afternoons. As reported in the August 20 Gettysburg Times, the Adams County Women’s Christian Temperance Union opposed the move. In a resolution, the union asked the club to “Help Adams county express her faith in her Christian institutions by giving to her young people a continued example of proper observance of the Sabbath Day.” At a special meet-
ing of Class A members held at 8 P.M. on the 23rd, by a vote of 55-5, the membership adopted the amendment.\footnote{54}

After some 38 years of serving the public, and after countless wood-and coal-fired steam engines passed underneath its planks, Griest’s bridge must have begun showing her age, in need of overhaul­ing and modernizing. Although the trestle itself remained a wooded structure, the composition of the present bridge abutments and trestle footers suggests that the original stone ones were replaced with concrete structures.

The present bridge abutments are poured concrete masses, whose matrix is composed of many small granite stones about a half inch in dimension - nearly identical to the foundations found in the old Gettysburg Panel Company building that was partially razed in 1999 to make way for the new Super 8 Motel on York Street in Gettysburg. The panel company building was constructed between 1921 and 1925. The present abutments also imply that the bridge spans – from the abutments to the trestles on which the span across the tracts were laid – were wider than the original. For example, the east abutment is some four to six feet wider than the present twelve-foot wide causeway.

Despite the economic good times of the 1920s, financial problems caught up with the Tyson brothers when they attempted to expand their business operations. As noted in the December 3, 1927, \textit{Gettysburg Compiler},

Tyson Bros. have been growers of fruit, farm crops, and produce and sellers of farm supplies and machinery. The brothers inherited their farms from their father . . . and developed a huge apple production and marketing business which became known throughout the state and nation. A dozen farms totaling 3,000 acres are owned by the firm in Adams and Cumberland counties.

An expansion of activities into the sale of the farm implements is said to have led to the collapse of the concern.

In the same article, the reported noted that by the spring of 1927, Tyson Brothers, Inc., had liabilities in excess of $1 million. At a meeting of its board of directors, after it was reported that the company was insolvent, owing some $1,073,520.42 in claims to banks and trust companies in Gettysburg, Biglerville, and Bendersville, its secretary,
Wallace V. Peters of Biglerville, was directed to have their corporate attorney, Robert C. Wible, file four bankruptcy petitions with the federal court in Lewisburg – one for the corporation, and one each for the three Tyson brothers. The voluntary proceedings were done to head off the sale of assets of the company for settlement of a $1,000 judgment of the Bendersville National Bank. Fortunately for Adams countians, “few residents . . . [were] to suffer as a result of the collapse . . . [for] most of the stock of the concern was owned by firms and individuals outside Adams county.” During litigation, a national organization, the American Fruit Growers, operated the extensive Tyson holdings.\textsuperscript{55}

Two weeks later, G. W. Koser was appointed trustee of not only the Tyson company’s holdings, but also the estates of the three Tyson brothers. On April 4, 1928, six C. J. Tyson farms were sold. C. H. Musselman purchased the “Bream Farm” and M. E. Knouse, “Edgemont Farm.”\textsuperscript{56}

During a second round of sheriff sales, held on June 2, 1928, the remaining Tyson farms were sold, as well as holdings in Guernsey. As the result of the law suit, \textit{1st National Bank of Gettysburg [now Adams County National Bank], assignee of Chester J. Tyson vs. Edwin C. Tyson and Mary W. Tyson, Mortgagors; G. W. Koser, Trustee of the Bankruptcy of the Estate of Edwin C. Tyson, real owner; Chester J. Tyson, as occupant, and Z. J. Peters, occupant}, a writ of \textit{levari facias} was issued by the Court of Common Pleas to Sheriff George D. Morrison. At the sale, the sheriff sold three, non-contiguous parcels. One parcel, the old A. J. Koser property and its two additions, “improved with a dwelling, barn, and other out buildings” where William C. Tyson and his family lived, was sold to G. W. Koser for $2,900. The other two parcels, the western (warehouse) and the eastern sections of the old Michener & Prickett tract, were sold to Zachariah J. Peters, storekeeper and Guernsey postmaster, for $800 and $310, respectively. The court confirmed the sales to Koser and Peters on June 18. Eighteen months later, Koser sold his father’s property to Oscar H. and Sadie J. Benson of Bethesda, Maryland, on December 30, 1929.\textsuperscript{57}

Peters retained the eastern and western sections of the old Prickett and Michener tract (three plots) until his death at the age of 77 years, 2 months, 17 days on July 9, 1936. On March 26, 1937, his heirs sold the three plots for $1,515.75 to siblings Margaret M. Boyer of Millersville and Charles G. Boyer of Biglerville. They retained them
until 23 November 1945, when for one dollar they were transferred to George C. Kiner of Aspers. 58

After the Stock Market Crash in September 1929 and the Great Depression that followed, some Adams countians suffered financial losses. By the early 1930s, Griest Brothers, Inc., had decided to fold. On February 9, 1931, they sold the remnants of the home farm and the Meals property to the Citizens Trust Company of Gettysburg for $275. The trust company held the Griest property for but a short time. The trust company owed money to the First National Bank of Gettysburg. On February 23, 1932, the Court of Common Pleas directed that the holdings of the trust company were to be liquidated, and on April 4 all holdings were transferred to liquidation trustees, Harry L. Snyder, E. W. Thomas, M. E. Knouse, and the First National Bank of Gettysburg. Two years later for $10,000, the trustees sold the Griest home place, referred to as “Tract #3, No. 2 Hartzell Farm,” encompassing 134 acres, 135 perches, to Milton L. and Mary Jane Shipman of East Orange, New Jersey, on 23 February 1934. The Shipmans retained the Griest farm for twenty-two years. Deed records suggest that they may have used the farm as a summer residence and/or a tenant farm, for when they sold the property for $32,500 on November 15, 1956, to Harold A. and Elizabeth F. Huettner of Hicksville, New York, the Shipmans were still listed as residents of East Orange. 59

Members of the Huettner family still own the majority of the old Hartzell-Griest farm. After her husband died, Elizabeth F. Huettner sold off parcels to her two sons. On June 10, 1983, she transferred a 4.52 acre parcel to Daniel F. and Jacqueline B. Huettner, and on December 30, 1989, she transferred an 18.676 acre tract to son Harold Russell Huettner. 60 Elizabeth A. Huettner is the current owner of record of the 105.32 acre remnant of the old Hartzell-Griest farm.

* * * *

The following summarizes the more-recent history of the other properties in Guernsey that had formerly been part of the Cyrus S. Griest home farm, Tyson or Shank properties:
Griest's Creamery-Quaker Valley Country Club Clubhouse

With the demise of Tyson Brothers, Inc., and fallout from the Great Depression, the QVCC followed suit. During the August term 1933, the Adams County Court of Common Pleas issued on May 8, 1933, a writ of fieri facias sir tax lien on the property based on the suit, School Directors of Butler Township vs. Quaker Valley Country Club. On June 3, Sheriff John C. Wible sold the property to Harry L. Rouzer for $400, which was confirmed by the court on July 7. Retaining the old clubhouse for nine years, on February 18, 1942, the Rouzers transferred title temporarily for one dollar to Margaret E. Larson, single. A year later, on June 3, 1943, the Rouzers sold the clubhouse for $2,800 to Milo O. and Osma O. Gallinger of Milford, Michigan. Retaining it for eleven years, on March 30, 1954, the Gallingers sold it for $3,000 to Raymond Wagner, Jr., and his wife, Patricia A., who, in turn, sold it on March 12, 1959, for $5,000, to George G. and Kathryn I. Phillips. Widow Kathryn Phillips sold it for $17,000 on May 20, 1970, to Eugene D. and Olga W. Hartman. The Hartmans then sold it on December 5, 1986, to David J. and Diane M. Howell, the current owners of record, though a second deed valued at one dollar and dated April 8, 1987 was also filed.61

E. Belle and Mary E. Griest's Store

The store and lot that abutted the east end of the Guernsey Bridge and the west side of the old Prickett and Michener warehouse tract, which Cyrus S. Griest had sold in 1887 to his two daughters, E. Belle and Mary E., was sold by them for $2,000 on November 8, 1926, to Harry L. and Alberta B. Rouzer. Physical and deed evidence implies that some time after 1910, a two-and-a-half-story brick back building was added onto the Griest store. The Rouzers retained it for seventeen years when they transferred title to it for only one dollar to Harry A. and Mada K. Eckert on January 16, 1943. A year later, for one dollar, they transferred the house and lot to Edwin A. and Anna S. Eckert of Franklin township on December 11, 1944. A decade later, Edwin and Anna sold the property to Walter C. Roberts, Jr. and his wife, Selena M., for $12,900 on June 3, 1954. On August 27, 1962, the house and lot were sold to the current owners of record, Donald W. and Shirley M. Bower.62
Sunny Side Station and Warehouse Lot – Western Section of the Prickett and Michener Tract.

Having been purchased along with the eastern section of the Prickett and Michener tract by George C. Kiner and his wife, Tressie A., in 1945, they sold this station and warehouse parcel (that included two small triangular contiguous pieces) for one dollar on July 1, 1946, to Charles V. and Bernadette C. Abell and Joseph C. Becker, Sr., and his wife, Margaret A. They retained the two parcels until April 21, 1948, when they transferred them for one dollar to the First National Bank of Gettysburg. Four years later the bank sold them for $4,000 to Charles G. Boyer on January 30, 1952. Boyer retained the station and warehouse parcel until October 17, 1988, when he sold it to Douglas L. and Carol A. Bower, the current owners of record. Sometime after 1910, the warehouse, depot, and Griest’s siding were removed.63

Charles Michener House (Center Section of the Prickett and Michener Tract).

Purchased from Koser and Michener in 1890, this house and lot were retained by Letitia B. Griest (Cyrus S. Griest’s wife) and her heirs and descendants for some 48 years. On Valentine’s Day 1938, Letitia’s heirs sold the parcel for $2,500 to Glenn H. and Mildred M. Crist. Residing there for nearly 50 years, three years after the death of her husband on August 8, 1995, she sold this property to the current owners of record, Douglas L. and Carol A. Bowers.64

Eastern Section of the Prickett and Michener Tract

Having been purchased along with the western section of the Prickett & Michener tract by George C. Kiner and his wife, Tressie A., in 1945, this 1-acre, 67-perch unimproved, tree-covered eastern section of the Prickett and Michener tract was sold for $100 to Charles J. and Kathren J. Wilkinson of Menallen township. Three months later the Wilkinsons sold it for $400 to Clarence J. and Bessie L. Rausher on March 27. After the death of Bessie in 1948 and Clarence on July 9, 1956, the property remained in limbo until October 16, 1978, when the Orphans’ Court formally decreed that, as stipulated in Clarence’s will, the unimproved lot was the property of Rausher’s daughter, Mildred M. Crist. Ten years later, on March 15, 1988, for one dollar Mildred
transferred a half interest in the property to her husband, Glenn H. Crist. After the death of her husband in 1995, Mildred sold the parcel to the current owners of record, H. William and Dorothy T. Barbour on November 21, 1997.65

**Heiges-Shank House Tract**

Part of the plantation of John Cox in ca. 1742, 265 acres were acquired by John Bosserman, Sr., possibly as early as 1825. He retained the property until his death on March 6, 1845, after which the acreage was transferred to a son, Jacob Bosserman on April 1, 1846. Deed records and the 1858 and 1872 maps disclose that the farm buildings were situated about a half mile north of Guernsey bridge site. After the deaths of Jacob Bosserman and his wife, Elizabeth, on 12 July and 28 November, 1873, respectively, some 60 acres were sold to Peter Bosserman on April 4, 1874. The southeastern portion of this tract abutted the north side of present Guernsey Road (T-535). A year later, Peter sold the 60 acres to John Heiges on 8 May, 1875. On that portion of the tract near its border with the Prickett and Michener tract, we suspect that Heiges built the present two-story, L-shaped brick house in 1883. On April 2, 1904, Heiges transferred the land to a Mathilda (sic) Barr. She retained the land until January 16, 1914, when it was transferred to Charles G. and George A. Shank. After the interstate death of Charles on July 5, 1915, the Orphans’ Court ruled that Charles’ half interest was to be transferred to George. Thus, on March 30, 1917, W. D. Sheely, Clerk of the Orphans’ Court, transferred the 60-acre, 116-perch tract for $2,000 to George A. Shank. He and his wife, Mathilda L., retained the property for 42 years. The Quaker Valley Country Club rented eleven acres of Shank’s farm during the 1920s.66

During the following four decades, Shank sold off portions of his 60-acre tract. On March 24, 1948, the Shanks temporarily transferred their property to W. Frederick Troxell on March 24, 1948, for one dollar. On August 15, 1959, the Shanks sold the remaining 51 acres and 52 perches of their farm for $10,600 to J. Chester and Bertie E. Spicer. Within a year of the death of her husband on September 2, 1967, Bertie E. Spicer sold an 8-acre, 106-perch parcel (that which fronted along the north side of Guernsey Road) for $12,500 to Clarence M. Swartz on July 8, 1967. Selling off a 5.423-acre plot on October 13, 1970, to Violet

https://cupola.gettysburg.edu/ach/vol7/iss1/4
C. Ondek for $6,000, Swartz eventually sold his remaining lot, improved with the two-story brick house, to John E. and J. Joan Slaybaugh for $6,300. Eleven years later the Slaybaughhs developed financial difficulties. On December 29, 1982, Sheriff Bernard V. Miller, by virtue of a writ of execution, sold the 3.23-acre property for $30,600 to Herman O. and Margaret L. Cooper. On May 21, 1984, the Coopers sold the parcel to H. William and Dorothy E. Barbour, the current owners of record. 67

A. J. Koser-Charles J. Tyson Mansion Property, a.k.a. "Loma Vista"

Sold by the sheriff on June 2, 1928, to George W. Koser, the latter sold it on December 30, 1929, for $8,500 to Oscar N. and Sadie J. Benson of Bethesda, Maryland. Moving to Guernsey, the Bensons retained "Loma Vista" until June 23, 1943, when they sold it for $11,500 to Milo and Osma Gallinger. They held on to it until May 1, 1952, when they sold it for $16,100 to William J. and Viola M. Parker of Fox River Grove, Illinois. Apparently, the Parkers used Loma Vista as a tenant property, for they were then residents of Hanover, New Hampshire, when they sold it on May 11, 1959, for $10,500 to Ray M. and Alma L. Black. The Blacks retained the property until July 15, 1961, when they sold it to the current owners of record, C. William and Marion T. Harbaugh and Jean Thomas. 68

Lady-Rouzer-Heidlersburg United Brethren Parsonage Parcel

As a result of the Tyson Brothers, Inc., bankruptcy, G. W. Koser, trustee of the estate, sold this parcel that abutted the southeast corner of the Guernsey bridge for $870 at a "public auction" held on March 18, 1928, but its sale to S. E. Strausbaugh was not finalized until November 13. The recorded deed noted that the property was "improved with a two-story frame house." However, a day later Spencer E. and Myrtle Strausbaugh sold it to G. W. Koser, private citizen, for $1,000. Koser held onto the property through the Depression until April 4, 1933, when he sold it for $1,500 to Jacob Paxton, Elmer Bricker, and W. H. Peters, Parsonage Trustees of the Heidlersburg United Brethren Circuit. Serving as a church parsonage for twelve
years, on October 5, 1945, the church’s parsonage trustees – Zeal R. Peters, Harry L. Heller, William J. Fohl, Charles R. Weaver, and Clark Pittenturf – sold the house and lot to Robert C. Hoover and his wife, Mary E., for $3,400. Retaining the property for eight years, on June 22, 1953, they sold it for $5,000 to John W. and Agnes Eckert of Biglerville. The Eckerts, in turn, sold it on May 17, 1955, to the present owners of record, Benjamin Edward Frey, Jr., and his wife, Barbara A. On September 23, 1980, the Freys enlarged this parcel through the addition of a 3,685 square foot strip along its south boundary purchased, from Jack R. and Liesel L. Southerly.69

J. Wilmont Peters Parcel

On March 26, 1920, J. Wilmont Peters purchased from Z. J. Peters, a 70-perch tract that was situated at the northeast corner of the old L. E. Hartzell-Edward Brough farm. This acreage was bordered by the railroad right-of-way on the west and present Guernsey Road (T-534 south) on the east. A year later, on November 5, 1921, for $251, J. W. Peters purchased from the Griest Brothers, Inc., another strip of land (immediately north of his 70-perch tract), encompassing some 2 acres, 82 perches at the southeast corner of the old Cyrus S. Griest home place that was also sandwiched between the railroad right-of-way and Guernsey Road and which abutted the south boundary of the Lady-Rouzer tract. Near the Griest parcel’s southwest corner was located the railroad aqueduct through which a stream often flowed. As stipulated in the deed of transfer, the Griest brothers, their heirs, and assigns were to have “perpetual” access to a fourteen foot right-of-way across Peters’ strip of land to the aqueduct.70

J. W. Peters retained these two parcels for two decades. On September 26, 1944, he sold them for $2,000 to John W. and Agnes Eckert. Six months later, on March 8, 1945, the Eckerts sold them to Ralph B. and Maude B. Shetter for $2,300. Three years later, Ralph and Maude sold the two parcels for $2,500 on April 23, 1948, to Donald B. and Marian F. Shetter who, in turn, sold them for $6,000 on November 21, 1952, to Charles A. and Donna N. Slaybaugh.71

In 1956, a 25-year-old mistake was discovered. Prior to the sale of these two acreages, a deed search uncovered the fact that when the remnant of the Griest home place was sold by Griest Brothers, Inc., to the Citizens Trust Company of Gettysburg, the 2-acre, 82-perch parcel
sold to J. W. Peters had not been excluded from that instrument. Thus, a quit claim deed was filed on July 24, through which, for one dollar, the First National Bank of Gettysburg, (today Adams County National Bank), the receivers of the remnants of the trust company’s assets, relinquished to the Slaybaughs any claim to the 2-acre, 82-perch parcel. Three days later, the Slaybaughs officially sold their two parcels – “Tract #1,” containing 2 acres, 82 perches and “Tract #2,” encompassing 70-perchs – to Jack R. and Liesel L. Southerly of Bendersville for $7,100. 

Jack and Liesel Southerly retained the two tracts until 1980, when they divided them into three lots. They are the current owners of Lot #3 or the south lot. On September 23, 1980, they sold Lot #2 or the center lot, encompassing some 22,005 square feet, to Nancy L. Southerly, the current owner of record. On the same day, Jack and Liesel sold Lot #1 or north lot, encompassing only 3,685 square feet, to Benjamin Edward Frey, Jr., and his wife.

**Tyson-Peters House Tract**

Maria E. Tyson purchased from Jacob and Eliza Kime in 1885 the Tyson-Peters tract, retaining it until her death on March 11, 1927, at the age of 87 years. We suspect that about the time of her husband’s death in 1906, a modest two-story frame house was built on the property (see figure 18). In her last will and testament, Maria bequested this parcel to her daughter, Mary Tyson Peters. She held on to it until her death on August 16, 1931. Her husband, Zachariah J. Peters, held the parcel’s title until his death on July 7, 1936. Three years later, the heirs of Zachariah, through their attorney, Wallace V. Peters, sold the acreage for $2,565 to E. A. Meyer of Biglerville, who retained it until October 17, 1942, when he and his wife, Josephine L., sold it for $2,700 to Henry D. and Anita R. Lower of Biglerville. On June 3, 1963, the Lowers transferred the six acres to their son, Terry C. Lower and his wife, Carolyn A., the current owners of record.

(For a map of today’s Guernsey and vicinity, see figure 19.)
Epilogue

Although the documentation examined thus far does not precisely identify who is the owner of the Guernsey bridge, evidence indicates that the bridge would not have been built if not for the 1883 agreement between Cyrus S. Griest and the Gettysburg and Harrisburg Railway Company, which, in part, provided the property owner (Cyrus S. Griest, his heirs and assigns) access under and over the railroad right-of-way. Mention of this agreement is written into the current deed of record for the remnant of the Hartzell-Griest farm, now owned by Elizabeth Huettner. Since a portion of that farm still abuts the western and northwestern side of the railroad right-of-way, including that section from the Guernsey bridge to the historic northeast corner of the old 140-acre Hartzell-Griest farm, one might assume that agreement still has full force and effect and is legally binding.

The present humpback bridge actually may be at least a third version of the structure (see figure 20). Physical evidence suggests that at least the causeway that lead up to that section of the bridge that crosses the tracts may have been wider at the bridge abutments. Those abutments, especially the east one, extend more than a foot beyond the bridge deck and its supports.

If the present bridge is actually a third or even fourth version, when was it built? Assuming that the major wood supports would last about forty years, then the bridge would have been replaced ca. 1923, and ca. 1963. Indeed, composition of the bridge abutments suggests that they were installed about the 1920s, about the time the Quaker Valley Country Club was established at Guernsey.

However, major repairs may have been made to the Guernsey bridge within the past twenty years. The editor of Adams County History, Dr. James Myers, recalls that about sometime during the late 1970s and early 1980s, “the bridge was extensively repaired, possibly about the time that the[Gettysburg] railroad tours enterprise began.” Repairing the Guernsey bridge establishes a precedent - some entity had at least taken a maintenance responsibility for, if not direct ownership of, the Guernsey bridge.
NOTES

1. See Arthur Weaner, History of Possum Creek Manor, unpublished manuscript, 1992, 190; 'Possum Creek Manor file, Adams County Historical Society (ACHS).
2. Ibid.
3. Ibid.
4. Ibid.
5. Adams County Court House, Office of the Register-Recorder, Deed Book B/389.
6. Land Drafts, Menallen township, 'Possum Creek Manor, ACHS.
7. Land Drafts, Menallen township, John Cox, ACHS.
9. Deed Books: L/228; P/192; and ZZ/529.
10. Photocopy in Hartzell Family file, ACHS; and Hartzell-Gelwicks marriage notice, Adams Centinel, 4/19/1819.
12. Ibid.
13. Bender’s Cemetery, Butler township, tombstone inscriptions.
16. See C. S. Griest obituary, Gettysburg Times, 8/5/1918, p. 1. Butler township was created in 1849 out of parts of Menallen and Franklin townships.
17. Unrecorded Deed, Cyrus S. Griest and wife to Sallie S. Mumper, house and one acre land, dated 27 March 1876, ACHS.
20. Adams County Court House, Clerk of Courts Office, Road Docket Book A/93.
21. Ibid.
22. See ca. 1804 Cobean Land draft in Weaner 'Possum Creek Manor monograph, and title lineage in Deed Book 127/53.
23. See Deed 81/242.
24. The Griest Family, p. 105; and Deed Book WW/379.
27. Deed Book 103/286.
28. Deed Book 60/452.
29. See Deed Book: 56/414; 78/28; and 154/228.

Since the completion of this article, additional information has been unearthed in the records of the Postmaster-General, now on deposit in the National Archives.

On August 15, 1884, Josiah W. Prickett submitted to the Office of the First Assistant Postmaster-General in Washington, D.C., a “location paper” and statement. That statement’s purpose was to provide information to aid the postmaster-general in deciding whether a new post office at Sunny Side was warranted.

When Prickett filled out the form, the new post office was to be located twenty-five feet south of the GHRR right-of-way, either in the depot or the warehouse. A map accompanying the statement noted that, by the summer of 1884, present Quaker Run Road and the southern portion of Guernsey Road had been opened, thus creating a crossroads at Sunny Side.

Guernsey was not the only alternative name for the new post office. Prickett initially wrote in “Hartford.” That name...
was crossed out and the name "Creamery" was written in by a different hand. That name was also crossed out and "Guernsey" was written in by a third hand.


32. See "Butler School Items," Star and Sentinel, 4/1/1884.

33. Deed Book ZZ/535.

34. Star and Sentinel, 5/20/1898; and The Griest Family, pp. 103-104.


39. Butler township tax records 1900, 1901, and 1902 on file ACHS; and Deed Books: 55/168; 56/414; and 103/281.

40. See Deed Book 87/28.

41. Deed Books: 61/318; 87/28; and 83/370.

42. See title lineage in Deed Book 127/536.

43. Ibid.

44. Adams County Court House, Register-Recorder's Office, Miscellaneous Docket Book C/116.

45. Deed Book 73/536.

46. Deed Book 81/242.

47. See Deed Book 126/408.


49. Deed Book 103/289.

50. Deed Books: 78/86; 87/30; and 93/566.

51. Constitution and By-Laws, Quaker Valley Country Club, 1921, copy on file, ACHS.

52. Miscellaneous Docket Book F/524.

53. Deed Book 93/566.

54. Gettysburg Times, 8/24/1924.

55. Ibid., 6/9/1928.

56. Gettysburg Compiler, 12/24/1927 and 4/7/1928.

57. Deed Book 119/88.


59. Deed Books: 126/408; 130/129; 133/453; and 216/71.

60. Deed Books: 368/790 and 672/132.

61. Sheriff's Deed Book B/123, and Deed Books: 158/328 and 329; 162/348; 205/557; 284/641; 443/562; and 454/96.

62. Deed Books: 114/141; 161/94; and 167/416.

63. Deed Books: 174/162; 183/573; and 504/477.

64. Gettysburg Times, 8/9/1995; and Deed Books: 147/371 and 1508/108.

65. C. J. Rausher Estate Papers, G-538, on file, ACHS; and Deed Books: 341/235; 483/377; and 1481/327.

66. Menallen/Butler township tax records; Deed 154/228; and the following Sentinel issues: 7/21/1845; 7/23 and 12/10/1873.

67. Deed Books: 181/561 and 652; 226/180; 262/715; 288/82; 297/136; 366/106; and 380/78.

68. Deed Books: 119/28; 162/349; 198/505; 225/153; and 234/31.

69. Obituary of Myrtle Strausbaugh, Gettysburg Compiler, 10/15/1938; and Deed Books: 115/370; 118/287; 170/323; 203/79; 210/150; 353/1122; 479/841; and 484/526.

70. Deed Books: 214/489 and 156/337.

71. Deed Books: 167/38; 168/159; and 200/517.

72. Deed Books: 214/494 and 214/496.

73. Deed Books: 353/1122 and 1225.

74. Estate Papers of Maria E. Tyson, on file, ACHS; obituaries of Maria E. Tyson, and Mary Tyson Peters, Gettysburg Compiler, 3/19/1927 and 8/22/1931; Miscellaneous Docket Book N/295; and Deed Books: 151/85; 160/356; and 245/1045.
Christ: "Not only for... Material Progress... but for the General Good and Uplift"

Figure 1. Modern Aerial View of Guernsey Looking West-Northwest. Unbeknownst to the photographer, he snapped this picture on December 19, 1999, the 116th anniversary of the construction of the original Humpback Bridge (ACHS).
Figure 2. Guernsey Bridge Looking North along the GHRR Right-of Way. During the week of December 19, 1883, the original version of the bridge was under construction.

Figure 3. Colonial Land Claims in Adams County, 1732-1766, showing 'Possum Creek Manor (A) and the site of Guernsey.
Figure 4. The Hartzell-Griest Farmhouse Seen from West Guernsey Road. Built in 1811 for George Hartzell, his 140-acre farm was eventually purchased by Cyrus S. Griest in 1862. Today, 105 acres of the original farmstead remains intact.

Christ: "Not only for... Material Progress... but for the General Good and Uplift"

Figure 5. Detail from 1872 Atlas Map of Butler Township.
Figure 6. Coming Into Sunny Side Station from the North, Today. Sunny Side Depot and the warehouse of Prickett and Michener once stood along Griest’s siding, which ran along the left side of the right-of-way seen here. Through the trees at left can be seen Griest’s store. At photo-center is seen Griest’s Creamery. The Tyson mansion, Loma Vista, can be seen just left of the old creamery.

Figure 7. Heiges-Shank House. Erected during the summer of 1883, John Heiges’s modest farmhouse was the first new structure built in the village of Guernsey.
Figure 8. Sunny Side Station Depot Area, 1910. This blue print illustration was attached to the recorded right-of-way agreement, dated February 11, 1911, between the Griest family and the GHRR. The depot can be seen just below and right of center with the Koser warehouse abutting it to the left. Directly above the warehouse can be seen the Michener House. At right, stands Belle and Mary Griest’s store. The direction of north is towards the bottom left corner of the illustration.

Figure 9. Charles Michener House. This quaint house was built in 1887 for Michener, a warehouseman turned creamery operator. That year he married Florence Griest, a daughter of Cyrus and Letitia Griest. Glenn H. and Mildred H. Crist resided here from 1938 until 1995.
Figure 10. E. Belle and Mary E. Griest's Store. The nucleus of this building was erected about 1888 for Cyrus S. Griest who sold it that year to two of his daughters, both teachers. The Griest sisters retained this building until 1926. Sometime after 1910, the building was enlarged and later renovated by subsequent owners.

Figure 11. Koser-Tyson House ("Loma Vista"). Andrew J. Kosser built the nucleus of this house in 1885. Purchased by Charles J. Tyson, he enlarged and embellished the building about 1902.
Figure 12. North Facade of Lorna Vista's Barn. Note the intriguing architectural design of the tower. Local custom holds that from the observatory, Tyson could see his original house at Floradale, located 1.6 miles northwest of Guernsey.

Figure 13. Lady-Rouzer House. Built for Cyrus S. Griest about 1900, in 1905 he sold this house to Willis W. Lady. In 1908, Isaac W. Hershey, co-founder of the Hershey Creamery Company, bought it, but sold it in 1915 to Harry L. Rouzer. Between 1933 and 1945, this house served as the parsonage of the Heidlersburg United Brethren Circuit.
Figure 14. Stevens-Griest House. We suspect that this house was built sometime between 1904 and 1908 for J. Harvey Stevens. In 1910, Stevens sold it to Lola W. and C. Arthur Griest, one of Cyrus's sons. The couple sold the property in 1935.

Figure 15. Sunny Side School at Guernsey. About 1863, the nucleus of this schoolhouse was built on this site, located just west of Guernsey. The original schoolhouse, built about 1857, stood about 3/4 mile to the east. We suspect this structure was renovated about 1916. The school was closed in 1937.
Figure 16. Griest's Creamery-Quaker Valley Country Clubhouse. Built as a creamery for Cyrus S. Griest during the fall of 1884, the structure was purchased by the country club and converted to their club house in 1921.

Figure 17. Conjectured Boundaries of the Quaker Valley Country Club, 1921-1931. Although the country club encompassed some 35 acres, the organization only ever owned their clubhouse property, formerly Griest's Creamery, seen at center.
Figure 18. Tyson-Peters House. Maria E. (Griest) Tyson, wife of Charles J. Tyson, purchased 6 acres of land from Jacob Kime in 1885. After her husband's death, this modest frame house was built about 1906 on the tract. With Maria's death in 1927, the property was transferred to a daughter, Mary S. who had married Zachariah J. Peters. Members of the Peters family resided here until 1939. Guernsey Bridge can be seen just right of the house.

Figure 19. Modern Tax Map of Guernsey and Vicinity.
Figure 20. Bridge Deck Looking East. The Griest sisters' store can be seen through the trees at upper left. The Tyson-Peters house is seen just right of upper center.